IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2007-TS-02237

PAMELA L. FERGUSON

APPELLANT

Vs.

JUANITA H. LEWIS

APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Chancery Court of Hinds County, Mississippi

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

PAMELA L. FERGUSON

Oral Argument Requested

Attorney for Appellant
Staci B. O'Neal (
O'Neal Law Firm
214 Key Drive, Ste. 1100
Madison, Mississippi 39110
Telephone (601)856-8225
Facsimile (601)856-8231

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

PAMELA L. FERGUSON

APPELLANT

VS.

Case No.: 2007-TS-02237

JUANITA H. LEWIS

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Juanita H. Lewis, Appellee herein, filed a Petition in the Chancery Court of Hinds County (Second Judicial District) seeking grandparent visitation rights pursuant to Miss. Code. Ann. § 93-16-3(2). A hearing was held on October 16, 2007 before the Honorable William Singletary in Jackson, Mississippi. At the hearing, testimony was given by the parties and several extended family members as well as the minor child at issue, Hannah Grace.

The chancery court issued an opinion on November 1, 2007 granting grandparent visitation including monthly visitation as well as two weeks overnight visitation in the summer. The final Order was entered in this case on November 29, 2008. Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal to the Supreme Court on December 11, 2007. Meanwhile Appellant filed a Motion to Reconsider with the lower court which was heard on January 28, 2008. The Supreme Court stayed the appeal until February 22, 2008. To date there has been no decision issued on the Motion to Reconsider in the lower court.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. WHETHER GRANDPARENT VISITATION IN THIS CASE WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE?
- II. WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR ABUSED HIS DISCRETION BY GRANTING OVERNIGHT VISITATION?
- III. WHETHER THE GRANDMOTHER WAS UNREASONABLY DENIED VISITATION WITH THE GRANDCHILD?
- IV. WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR'S RULING AMOUNTED TO AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION AND MANIFESTLY IN ERROR AND APPLIED ERRONEOUS LEGAL STANDARDS?
- V. WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR ABUSED HIS DISCRETION BY DISREGARDING THE CHILD'S WISHES BASED ON THE PREMISE THAT HER RELIGIOUS CONVICTIONS WERE "DUBIOUS" AND "BRAIN WASHING?"

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Hannah Grace is the fourteen-year-old daughter of Appellant, Pamela L. Ferguson. Hannah Grace is home-schooled and enjoys participating in activities at her church. Her father died when she was three years old and Hannah Grace and the Appellant (Pamela) have lived on their own since his death. For a child of fourteen (14), Hannah Grace displays a mature sense of faith and spiritual devotion. She testified that she loves her grandmother very much and prays for her to stop hurting family members. (Tr. 61:17-20). Hannah Grace testified that her grandmother speaks lies about family members and says hurtful things to people intentionally. (Tr. 65:20-66:16). For these reasons Hannah Grace felt like her grandmother was "abusive in words" towards her and her mother and she did not want to have court ordered visitation with her grandmother. (Tr. 92:11: 63:24-26).

The Appellee, Juanita H. Lewis, is Hannah Grace's maternal grandmother. As a small child, Hannah Grace enjoyed visiting with Mr. and Mrs. Lewis. On March 9, 2005, Mr. Lewis (Hannah Grace's grandfather) passed away. As a gesture of Mr. Lewis's legacy, Juanita purchased a home for Pamela and Hannah Grace across the street from Juanita's home in the fall of 2006. (Tr. 52:8). However, soon after moving to Raymond, Pamela realized that her mother was being very manipulative and controlling towards her and Hannah Grace. (Tr. 52:7-9).

Juanita has a long history of conflict with many members of her family. (Tr. 54:22). Prior to moving to Raymond, Pamela's conflict with her mother had been minimum as most of the conflict was focused on Juanita's other daughter. Rebecca Vaught, Juanita's twenty-two-year-old granddaughter by this other daughter, testified that she and her mother have each had ongoing conflicts with Juanita. (Tr. 46:27-29). In fact, as Rebecca was growing up she testified that "usually [she] was caught in the middle" of the conflict between her mother and grandmother. (Tr. 47:26-27). The conflict became so intense at times that Rebecca was banned

from Juanita's house. When the conflict began intensifying between Pamela and Juanita, it appears that Rebecca and her mother gained favor in Juanita's eyes. As a result, Juanita drew Rebecca into the middle of her conflict with Pamela. For instance, when Rebecca would visit the Fergusons across the street, Juanita would call several times during the visit and ask Rebecca to come back to her house. (Tr. 25-49:1).

All throughout Hannah Grace's childhood she observed the conflicts between her grandmother and other members of the extended family. In the fall of 2006, after moving across the street, the family conflict began to extend to her own mother Pamela. After Mr. Lewis passed away, there was no one to keep family peace between Juanita and other family members. (Tr. 87:9-21). As Pamela resisted Juanita's attempts to control, it caused a greater conflict between the two women. As the relationship deteriorated, Hannah Grace was drawn into the middle of the conflict just as Rebecca had been in years past. Juanita would say things to Hannah Grace trying to convince her that her mother was mentally ill. (Tr. 70:12-14). Hannah Grace testified that her grandmother would "spy" on them all day and try to see what they were doing during the day. (Tr. 79:24).

Some time around Christmas, 2006, Hannah Grace went to the mailbox where her grandmother met up with her for the purpose of drawing Hannah Grace into the middle of the conflict between the two women. Juanita insisted to Hannah Grace that her mother was mentally ill. (Tr. 59:23). This episode at the mailbox was very upsetting to Hannah Grace and she returned to her house crying. (Tr. 60:10-11). Another traumatic episode for Hannah Grace happened some time later when Juanita "tried to break into the house." (Tr. 60:28). Hannah Grace testified that her grandmother was trying to force her way into the house when she had been asked to go away. (Tr. 61:1-4). On another occasion, in Hannah Grace's presence, Juanita

threatened to take the Ferguson's home away from them because of a disagreement. (Tr. 67:23-68:10).

During one of the conflicts Hannah Grace told her grandmother that she wanted "nothing to do with [her]." (Tr. 61:2-3). The situation was becoming more and more hostile as time passed. After many months of turmoil it was apparent to Pamela that the turmoil was taking a toll on Hannah Grace. (Tr. 53:9-17). Pamela decided to remove the conflict from their lives and move to Madison, Mississippi. The Fergusons sold their house on or about August 30, 2007 and moved to Madison. (Tr. 33:28). That same week, Juanita filed a petition in the Hinds County Chancery Court on August 29, 2007 for grandparent's visitation rights. (R. 1)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The chancellor below granted visitation to the grandmother, Juanita, against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. The chancellor discussed the ten Martin factors in his Opinion but he did not adequately address how those factors demonstrate why visitation was in the child's best interest. See Martin v. Coop. 693 So.2d 912, 916. More importantly, the chancellor ignored the overwhelming evidence that visitation was not in the child's best interest. The chancellor instead discussed facts that demonstrated why the grandmother deserved visitation with the child thereby applying the wrong legal standard. See Morgan v. West, 812 So.2d 987, 994 (Miss. 2002).

The chancellor abused his discretion by granting overnight visitation. Absent a finding that the mother is unfit, it is unconstitutional for the State to inject itself into the private realm of a parent's right concerning the rearing of that parent's child. It should be noted that there was no allegation of unfitness and no evidence of unfitness in the case below. As a result, it is respectfully submitted that the chancellor's ruling in this matter infringes upon the mother's

fundamental right as a fit parent to make decisions concerning the care, custody, and control of her child. See Stacy, 798 So.2d 1275 (Miss. 2001).

A strong presumption exists that "fit parents act in the best interests of their children." In the instant case there was no allegation of the mother's unfitness and no judicial finding that she was unfit. The Petitioner did not overcome the presumption that the mother, a fit parent, is acting in the best interest of her child by limiting or denying visitation with the grandmother. As a result, the chancellor abused his discretion in awarding overnight visitation. <u>Id.</u>

Visitation was **not** unreasonably denied. Pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 93-16-3, the grandmother, as the petitioner below, had the burden in this case. What is lacking is a showing that she was *unreasonably* denied visitation under the statute. The testimony presented to the chancellor did not show that the mother had unreasonably denied the grandmother visitation with Hannah Grace. To the contrary, the evidence shows that the mother was acting in the best interests of Hannah Grace by removing her from a hostile environment.

The chancellor abused his discretion by disregarding the child's wishes based on the premise that her religious convictions were "dubious" and "brain washing." A chancellor does not have the right to disregard religious beliefs as "dubious" or "brainwashing" and the mother respectfully submits that this difference of belief influenced the chancellor in a way that was unfairly prejudicial to her as the Appellant herein.

ARGUMENT

I. Grandparent Visitation In This Case Was Against The Overwhelming Weight Of The Evidence.

This Court has held that ten factors should be considered by a chancellor in making a determination as to grandparent visitation. See Martin v. Coop. 693 So.2d 912, 916. The ten factors are:

- 1. The amount of disruption that extensive visitation will have on the child's life. Id. Testimony at trial revealed that the visitation between Hannah Grace and Juanita was emotionally disturbing to Hannah Grace. The Chancellor focused on the logistics of traveling to and from visitation and the home-schooling schedule but ignored the emotional disruption endured by Hannah Grace as a result of visitation. The evidence was overwhelming that Hannah Grace suffered anxiety because of her grandmother's behavior. The Chancellor failed to address this anxiety or Juanita's repeated attempts to draw Hannah Grace into the middle of an adult conflict. When considering the emotional disruption in Hannah Grace's life, this first factor should have gone in favor of the Appellant.
- 2. Suitability of the grandparent's home. <u>Id.</u> Hannah Grace is a teenager where supervision is far different than required for a smaller child. The chancellor focused on toys that were at Juanita's house that seemingly were left over from the days when Hannah Grace would spend the night and attend vacation bible school as a small child. (R. 17). The Chancellor ignored the evidence of witnesses, including Juanita, that Hannah Grace was no longer comfortable spending the night at her grandmother's house and had not been comfortable staying overnight for several years. (Tr. 21:21; 88:3-10). The overwhelming weight of the evidence puts this factor in favor of the Appellant.
- 3. Age of the child. Id. It was well established by the witnesses that Hannah Grace was fourteen at the time of this proceeding. The chancellor considered Hannah Grace's age as a child independent enough to visit a grandparent without the need for "special attention." (R. 17). However, the Chancellor ignored the obvious considerations when dealing with a teenager. Many children stop spending the night with grandparents when they are teenagers. Hannah Grace testified that she not only felt uncomfortable spending the night with Juanita for several years but she considers Juanita verbally abusive. Hannah Grace, a child legally old enough to

express a preference in this matter, emphatically testified that she did not want visitation with her grandmother. The chancellor ignored Hannah Grace's age and the special considerations of forcing visitation upon a teenager who does not want that visitation. This factor was overwhelmingly in favor of the Appellant.

- 4. Age, physical and mental health of the grandparent. Id. Testimony at trial showed that Juanita was seventy-four years of age at the time of the hearing below. Juanita described herself as "healthy." (Tr. 5:12). Juanita's health was not an issue. However, Hannah Grace is not yet old enough to drive and there was no testimony regarding Juanita's ability to drive Hannah Grace.
- 5. Emotional ties between grandparent and grandchild. Id. Testimony revealed that there had been an emotional tie between Juanita and Hannah Grace when Hannah Grace was younger. However, Juanita's actions towards Pamela and Hannah Grace served to sever the emotional ties from Hannah Grace's perspective. It was more emotionally upsetting for Hannah Grace to visit with her grandmother than it was for her to go without visitation. The chancellor focused more on the emotional impact to Juanita rather than the emotional impact on the child. This factor when considering the evidence of Hannah Grace's feelings towards her grandmother should have gone in favor of the Appellant.
- 6. Moral fitness of the grandparents. Id. Other than Juanita's continuing hostility and verbal abuse towards members of her own family, her moral fitness was not called into question.
- 7. Distance of grandparent's home from child's home. <u>Id.</u> Travel distance is of no significant consequence in this matter.
- 8. Any undermining of the parent's general discipline of the child. Id. Juanita testified that she did not approve of Pamela's decision to home school Hannah Grace. (Tr. 23:24). Juanita also testified that she considered Pamela's general discipline decisions, like limiting television

programs, "weird." (Tr. 25:21). Juanita's comments to Hannah Grace that her mother was "mentally ill" was an attempt to undermine Pamela's entire relationship with her daughter, not just general discipline. Juanita's actions prove that she cannot be trusted to speak well of Pamela in Hannah Grace's presence. This factor should have weighed in favor of the Appellant.

- 9. Employment of the grandparent and associated responsibilities of that employment Id.

 Juanita is not employed.
- 10. Willingness of the grandparent to accept that the rearing of the child is the responsibility of the parents and that the grandparent will not interfere with the parents manner of child rearing. Id. Testimony by Pamela and Hannah Grace showed that Juanita interfered in their lives to the point she became very angry when her interference was resisted. Juanita is described as abusive, mean, hurtful, manipulative and controlling. Although Juanita testified that she understood it was Pamela's right to "rear Hannah" she showed a complete disconnect from realizing the impact of her actions on Hannah Grace.

After weighing the ten Martin factors, the chancellor should then determine if the grandparent has met her burden of proof that grandparent visitation is in the best interest of the child. Id. The chancellor in the instant case, in his statements from the bench, commented on Juanita's age as a basis for granting interlocutory visitation. (Tr. 103:20). In the chancellor's Opinion, he also found that Pamela "owes much to Juanita and Juanita's dead husband" because of the financial assistance throughout the years. (R. 19). The chancellor also interpreted Pamela's decision to move as "pulling up stakes and fleeing." (R. 19). Finally, the chancellor found that Hannah Grace had aunts, uncles and cousins in Raymond and it was in her best interest to remain in contact with this extended family through Juanita. (R. 19). None of these reasons go to Hannah Grace's best interest. All of them go to the best interest of Juanita.

Seemingly the chancellor is saying that Juanita deserves visitation because she deserves a

return on her financial investment. The truth however is that gifts with strings attached are no gifts at all. The standard is "best interest of the child" not "what does grandma deserve in return for her gifts." Second, the chancellor acknowledges the conflict between Juanita and Pamela but ignores the evidence that Juanita is the common denominator in all of the family conflicts, not Pamela. The chancellor scolded Pamela for "fleeing" the situation rather than resolving the situation but gives no reprimand to Juanita for her share of the conflict. Again, this does not explain why visitation with Juanita is in the best interest of Hannah Grace.

Finally, the chancellor felt that Hannah Grace needed contact with Juanita's extended family. In fact, the chancellor granted "grandparent visitation" to Shelton Holliday who is not even a grandparent, but Juanita's brother. (R. 30). Hannah Grace testified that she never visited with other relatives in Raymond. (Tr. 71:17-26). Extended family members who live in constant conflict with Juanita, as testimony revealed, do not provide a basis for granting visitation to Juanita. If anything, it should have shown the chancellor that Juanita was the source of the conflict, not the innocent victim of Pamela's "hyper-sensitive" reaction "to Juanita's differing opinions and need for frequent contact." (R. 19).

There was no proof below that visitation was in the best interest of Hannah Grace. While the chancellor's sympathy for an elderly woman wanting visitation with a grandchild may have been the appropriate emotional response, it was not the correct legal basis for awarding visitation. In "determining whether grandparent visitation should be granted the best interests of the child and the Martin factors should be the determining elements, not what is in the best interest of the grandparent." See Morgan, 812 So.2d at 994. As Juanita did not meet her burden of proof to show that visitation was in the best interest of Hannah Grace, the chancellor abused his discretion by awarding grandparent visitation to Juanita.

II. The Chancellor Abused His Discretion By Granting Overnight Visitation.

Absent a finding that Pamela is unfit, it is unconstitutional for the State to inject itself into the private realm of a parent's right concerning the rearing of that parent's child. It should be noted that there was no allegation of unfitness and no evidence of unfitness in the case below. As a result, it is respectfully submitted that the chancellor's ruling in this matter infringes upon Pamela's fundamental right as a fit parent to make decisions concerning the care, custody, and control of her child. This Court has commented upon the constitutionality of the Grandparent Visitation Statute and found that absent compelling circumstances and clear and convincing proof of unfit parents, unsupervised visitation cannot be ordered. In <u>Stacy</u> this Court ruled as follows:

We view our statute as requiring no less than the Fourteenth Amendment in this regard. The determination whether parents are unreasonable in denying visitation in whole or part to grandparents is not a contest between equals. Parents with custody have a paramount right to control the environment, physical, social, and emotional, to which their children are exposed. [internal citations omitted]. Interference with that right based upon anything less than compelling circumstances is not the intent of the visitation statute. Clearly, forced, extensive unsupervised visitation cannot be ordered absent compelling circumstances which suggest something near unfitness of the custodial parents.

Id at 1280.

In <u>Stacy</u>, this Court was relying on the United States Supreme Court ruling in <u>Troxel v.</u> Granville, 530 U.S. 57 (2000). <u>Troxel</u> states that "as long as a parent adequately cares for his or her child, (i.e., is fit) there will normally be no reason for the State to inject itself into the private realm of the family to further question the ability of that parent to make the best decisions concerning the rearing of that parent's children." <u>Id</u> at 67. "Whether it is beneficial to a child to have a relationship with a grandparent in any specific case, therefore, in the first instance is a

decision for the parent to make, and when it becomes subject to judicial review, the court must accord at least some special weight to the parent's own determination." <u>Id</u> at 68.

A strong presumption exists that "fit parents act in the best interests of their children." Troxel, 120 S.Ct. at 2061. In the instant case there was no allegation of the mother's unfitness and no judicial finding that she was unfit. The Petitioner did not overcome the presumption that Pamela, a fit parent, is acting in the best interest of her child by limiting or denying visitation with Juanita. As a result, the chancellor abused his discretion in awarding overnight visitation which was against the mother's parental decision to limit or deny visitation with Juanita.

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