IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2007-TS-02237

5

• 3

١

; 1

PAMELA L. FERGUSON

APPELLANT

vs.

JUANITA H. LEWIS

APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Chancery Court of the Second Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JUANITA H. LEWIS

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE JACK G. MOSS ATTORNEY AT LAW P.O. DRAWER 49 RAYMOND, MISSISSIPPI 39154 Telephone: (601)857-5022 Facsimile: (601)857-2100

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

PAMELA L. FERGUSON	APPELLANT
VS.	NO. 2007-TS-02237
JUANITA H. LEWIS	APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE AWARD OF GRANDPARENT VISITATION IN THIS CASE WAS NOT AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

Under common law principals, there were no legal rights of grandparents for visitation privileges with their grandchildren where the parents did not permit such communications. <u>Olson v. Flinn</u>, 484 So.2d 1015 (Miss. 1986). In Mississippi, the grandparents' visitation rights statute became effective in 1983 allowing grandparents limited visitation rights. The Mississippi Legislature determined that a grandparent may petition the Court for visitation, including the provisions of MISS CODE ANN Section 93-16-3 (2) and (3), which allow as follows:

(2) Any grandparent who is not authorized to petition for visitation rights pursuant to subsection (1) of this section may petition the chancery court and seek visitation rights with his or her grandchild, and the court may grant visitation rights to the grandparent, provided the court finds:

(a) That the grandparent of the child had established a viable relationship with the child and the parent or custodian of the child unreasonably denied the grandparent visitation rights with the child; and

(b) That visitation rights of the grandparent with the child would be in the best interests of the child.

(3) For purposes of subsection (3) of this section, the term "viable relationship" means a relationship in which the grandparents or either of them have voluntarily and in good faith supported the child financially in whole or in part for a period of not less than six (6) months before filing any petition for visitation rights with the child or the grandparents have had frequent visitation including occasional overnight visitation with said child for a period of not less than one (1) year.

In the instant case, after hearing the witnesses' testimony and argument of counsel, the Court made specific findings of fact that:

- Juanita had established a viable relationship with Hannah Grace. (R. 36)
- Pamela's conduct denying Juanita the opportunity to see and visit with Hannah Grace constituted an unreasonable denial. (R. 36)
- 3. Pamela's conduct in denying Juanita the opportunity to see and visit with Hannah Grace was not in Hannah Grace's best interest (ie. that visitation rights of Juanita with Hannah Grace would be in the best interest of Hannah Grace). (R. 39)

ļ

In addition to the statutory prescribed requirements (establishing a viable relationship, proof

-6-

of unreasonable denial of visitation, and showing that the visitation rights would be in the best interest of the child), this Court has outlined ten factors in <u>Martin v. Coop,</u> 693 So.2d 912 (Miss. 1997), which are guidelines in determining the amount of visitation grandparents should be afforded. The Appellant argues that the lower Court did not properly consider the <u>Martin</u> factors. However, in the instant case, the Chancellor painstakingly weighed and addressed each of these ten factors in making his decision. (R. 16-19). These factors are:

- The amount of disruption that extensive visitation will have on the child's life. This includes disruption of school activities, summer activities, as well as any disruption that might take place between the natural parent and the child as a result of the child being away from home for extensive lengths of time.
- The suitability of the grandparents' home with respect to the amount of supervision received by the child.
- 3. The age of the child.
- 4. The age, and physical and mental health of the grandparents.
- 5. The emotional ties between the grandparents and the grandchild.
- 6. The moral fitness of the grandparents.

- 7. The distance of the grandparents' home from the child's home.
- 8. Any undermining of the parent's general discipline of the child.
- 9. Employment of the grandparents and the responsibilities associated with that employment.
- 10. The willingness of the grandparents to accept that the rearing of the child is the responsibility of the parent, and that the parent's manner of child rearing is not to be interfered with by the grandparents.

Martin at 916.

ł

Appellant either does not address, or appear to contest, the lower Court's summation as to factors outlined in number 4, number 6, (other than to make a unsubstantiated backhanded allegation that the grandparent was hostile towards and verbally abused members of her family) number 7 and number 9, hereinabove - so Appellee will address those remaining factors which were discussed in length in Appellant's brief:

1: <u>The amount of disruption that extensive</u> <u>visitation will have on the child's life.</u> This includes disruption of school activities, summer activities, as well as any disruption that might take place between the natural parent and the child as a

-8-

result of the child being away from home for extensive lengths of time.

There was no testimony at trial or evidence that revealed that the visitation between Hannah Grace and Juanita was emotionally disturbing to Hannah Grace. Counsel and the Court examined Hannah Grace and the Chancellor commented that it was the parent (Pamela) that appeared to be hypersensitive to the grandparent's (Juanita's) need for contact with Hannah Grace. (R. The lower Court, in other parts of its opinion, 39). noted that the record was devoid of contradictory evidence of any conduct by Juanita to justify withholding visitation. (R. 36). Appellee submits that the length of the visitation awarded in the lower Court in this case: 1 hour with a supervised meal once each month; 4 hours during the Christmas season; and 2 weeks in the summer, was certainly much less than that typically allowed to a non-custodial parent.

÷

٠

1.1.1

2: <u>The suitability of the grandparents' home with</u> <u>respect to the amount of supervision received by the</u> <u>child.</u>

As pointed out by the Chancellor and uncontroverted at the trial level, Juanita had a

-9-

suitable home for a 14 year old child, with separate living quarters - Appellant again attempts to focus that the determination of this factor should be based solely on Pamela's wishes. This argument is without merit.

3: The age of the child.

Again, Appellant argues matters that have nothing to do with age. There is no evidence in the record to support "that many children stop spending the night with grandparents when they are teenagers" as alleged by the Appellant.

4: <u>The age and physical and mental health of the</u> <u>grandparents.</u>

The Court found that Juanita, at age 74, was mentally and physically capable of providing for Hannah Grace and her needs when Hannah Grace is at Juanita's home. (R. 37).

5: <u>The emotional ties between the grandparents and</u> the grandchild.

Appellant admits that there had been an emotional tie between Juanita and Hannah Grace when Hannah Grace was younger, there is no evidence that Juanita's

-10-

actions toward either Pamela or Hannah Grace served to sever the emotional ties. The lower Court, after extensive testimony, found that whatever strain existed in that relationship was largely the result of the parent's (Pamela's) efforts to pit herself and the child (Hannah Grace) against the grandparent (Juanita) and to recruit the child to her side in that battle. (R. 38). The lower Court recognized this and commented that as a young and impressionable child, Hannah Grace would naturally adopt her mother's (Pamela's) attitude. (R. 38).

6: The moral fitness of the grandparents.

Not a factor for consideration in this case.

7: <u>The distance of the grandparents' home from the</u> <u>child's home.</u>

Not a factor for consideration in this case.

8: Any undermining of the parent's general discipline of the child.

i

While Juanita questioned some of Pamela's decisions as to schooling and discipline, there was no showing of any attempt by Juanita to undermine Pamela's general discipline of Hannah Grace. The lower Court certainly took note of the above and found no testimony

-11-

or evidence of any action by Juanita to undermine Pamela's parental rights. (R. 38).

9: <u>Employment of the grandparents and the</u> responsibilities associated with that employment.

Not a factor for consideration in this case.

10: The willingness of the grandparents to accept that the rearing of the child is the responsibility of the parent and that the parent's manner of the child rearing is not to be interfered with by the grandparents.

As pointed out by the Court below, there was no evidence of Juanita's unwillingness to accept the fact that the rearing of Hannah Grace was Pamela's responsibility nor any interference by Juanita in Pamela's manner of child rearing. Appellant argues that the Chancellor in this case, made statements from the bench, commenting on other "reasons" why that interlocutory visitation should be allowed. This Court in <u>Martin</u>, said that the ten (10) factors set forth above are not all inclusive - that the Chancellor can weigh <u>all</u> circumstances and factors that he feels appropriate. <u>Id</u> at 916.

ļ 1

-12-

II. THE CHANCELLOR DID NOT ABUSE HIS DISCRETION BY GRANTING OVERNIGHT VISITATION.

The Chancellor in the instant case awarded Juanita visitation with Hannah Grace by allowing: (1)(at Juanita's expense) one supervised meal per month; (2) 4 hours on Christmas Eve; (3) and one week during the month of June and one week during the month of July, each summer.

Appellant argues that it is unconstitutional for the State to inject itself into the private realm of a parent's right concerning the rearing of that parent's child and that the lower Court infringed upon Pamela fundamental right as a fit parent. Appellee agrees that there is no allegation of Pamela's unfitness and no evidence of Pamela's unfitness in the case below. Appellee submits that a showing of Pamela's unfitness is not required by statute.

In the <u>Martin</u> case, this Court, citing <u>Wisconsin</u> <u>v. Yoder</u>, 406 U.S. 205, 92 S.Ct. 1526, 32 L.Ed.2d 15 (1972) has said that the constitutional provisions proscribing governmental interference with individual liberties such as a parent's rights to determine his child's care, custody, and management, is <u>not</u> absolute.

-13-

<u>Martin</u> at 915, see also <u>Stacy v. Ross</u>, 798 So.2d 1275 (Miss. 2001). In <u>Martin</u>, where the Appellant argued in order to grant visitation under MISS CODE ANN Section 93-16-3 (1) there must be a disruption of the family unit, subsection (2) of the Grandparent's Visitation Statute does <u>not</u> require the grandparent to show that the parent is unfit. See MISS CODE ANN Section 93-16-3(2) (Supp. 2007)

In the <u>Stacy v. Ross</u>, cited by the Appellant, the lower Court awarded grandparents visitation rights, but did not make an express finding that visitation was in the child's best interest, as required by the Grandparent's Visitation Statute. In reviewing the lower Court in that case, this Court also considered the physical distance between the custodial parent and grandparent, the parent's willingness to accord some visitation, and the evidence by mental health professionals to determine that visitation was not in the best interest of the child. <u>Id</u> at 1282.

In the instant case, unlike <u>Stacy</u>, the parent (Pamela) was unwilling to accord <u>any</u> visitation to the grandparent (Juanita). Also in the instant case, Pamela agrees that travel distance between parent and

-14-

grandparent is not a factor (as it was in <u>Stacy</u>). After considering the testimony of the parties, including an extended session with the child, and two other nonparty witnesses, the Chancellor found that it was in Hannah Grace's best interest to have visitation with her grandmother (R. 36) and that having monthly supervised visitation with Juanita for a period of eight (8) months, prior to overnight visitation, was a good schedule to reestablish trust in the relationship between Hannah Grace, Pamela, and Juanita (child, mother and grandmother).

III: THE GRANDMOTHER WAS UNREASONABLY DENIED VISITATION WITH THE GRANDCHILD.

As set forth hereinabove, the Court made a specific finding of fact that a viable relationship existed between Juanita and Hannah Grace and the record is devoid of any evidence which justified Pamela's withholding Hannah Grace from visiting Juanita. (R. 36). The Appellant argues that she was "removing" Hannah Grace from a hostile environment. However there is no proof of what "hostile environment" existed - the testimony showed that Hannah Grace had not visited

į

i

Juanita for nearly a year before the filing of the petition for visitation. (R. 17, R. 32).

IV: THE CHANCELLOR'S RULING DID NOT AMOUNT TO ABUSE OF DISCRETION, WAS NOT MANIFESTLY IN ERROR AND CORRECTLY APPLIED LEGAL STANDARDS:

The Appellant is correct in arguing that this Court should not disturb the findings of a Chancellor, unless the findings were not supported by creditable evidence, manifest error was committed or erroneous legal standards were applied. <u>McAdory v. McAdory</u>, 608 So.2d 695, 699 (Miss. 1992). This is applicable in Grandparent visitation cases. See <u>Woodell v. Parker</u>, 860 So.2d 781, 785 (Miss. 2003). Also in matters concerning Grandparents visitation, a Chancellor is afforded a wide range of discretion. See <u>Settle v.</u> <u>Galloway</u>, 682 So.2d 1032 (Miss. 1996).

The Appellee (Juanita) is the maternal grandmother of Hannah Grace Ferguson. The Court found that Juanita had established a viable relationship with Hannah Grace and that the parent (Pamela) unreasonably denied Juanita visitation rights with Hannah Grace. The Court, to the apparent chagrin of the Appellee, expounded on the definition of "viable relationship" as prescribed by statute and after a thorough examination

-16-

of the grandparent, parent, and child, determined that the visitation rights of Juanita with Hannah Grace would be in the best interest of the child (Hannah Grace). (R. 36).

The statute is clear and applies to this case. All the proof necessary under the statute was present and the lower Court did not err in deciding that Juanita was entitled to visitation.

After making that determination, the Chancellor took up the question as to the amount of visitation that should be granted pursuant to this statute. He took into consideration the factors as propounded by this Court in <u>Martin</u> and commented on other factors and circumstances that he felt appropriate, taking into consideration the witnesses, testimony, the evidence (or lack thereof) before the Court and the factual findings that he described in detail.

Contrary to what Appellant's argument seems to indicate, it is not incumbent upon a grandparent to meet the requirements of the Grandparent's Visitation Statute, and to show that the custodial parent was something near unfit as a parent in order to be entitled to reasonable visitation rights with a

-17-

grandchild. To add that burden to the decision-making process would render the statute useless in those cases where any fit parent, for whatever reason, withhold visitation between a child and its grandparent(s). As this Court has noted on at least one occasion, there is no language in this statute that a finding of the fitness of a parent is to be made. <u>Woodell v. Parker,</u> 860 So.2d 781, (Miss. 2003) at 787.

V. THE CHANCELLOR DID NOT ABUSE HIS DISCRETION BY AWARDING VISITATION TO THE GRANDPARENT DESPITE THE CHILD'S WISHES.

The Chancellor did not abuse his discretion by awarding visitation to the Grandparent, despite the Appellant's argument that the lower Court made its decision to do so on the premise that Hannah Grace's religious convictions were "dubious" and "brainwashing". The Court, for good reason, interviewed Hannah Grace in chambers at the conclusion of the testimony in open Court. While another statute, as cited by Appellant, allows a Chancellor to consider the preference of a child over the age of twelve (12) years to have some preference in choosing a custodial parent (MISS CODE ANN Section 93-11-65 (1)(a)), that statute (which addresses the custody and support of dependants)

-18-

is not applicable in this case. The Chancellor, as finder of fact, was able to observe the testimony and demeanor of the witnesses, and noted that the child was "very much under the emotional and psychological influence of her mother (Pamela) to the point of appearing "brainwashed". (R. 15). The Chancellor did <u>not</u> say, as Appellant argues, that Hannah Grace's religious convictions were dubious and brain washing. The lower Court did note that Hannah Grace's belief concerning her opinion about Juanita appeared to be the result that Pamela has "inculated her with such a dubious notion". (R. 36).

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